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NOTE: This report has been compiled at the direction of the Geneva Historic Preservation Commission for the purpose of
evaluating the potential of granting landmark status to a portion of the former Alexander Blacksmith Shop / Mill Race Inn
property. Additional research may provide supplementary information that may substantiate or refute assumptions contained
herein. All stated dates are based on documented sources, local histories, and/ or probable dates in the case of construction
improvements. Evaluations and conclusions are subject to change based on further research and/or site investigation.
Amendments and clarifications have been added based on additional research between the issuance of the initial report (2014)
and 2016. Further investigation has been completed to verify the accuracy of the preliminary history that was attached to a
Historic Landmark nomination submitted in December 2017. Additional information has been discovered at the Geneva History
Museum, resulting from research on other properties within and adjacent to the Geneva Historic District. On July 27, 2020, Shirley
Koelling (koellings @yahoo.com) provided additional emigration information pertaining to the Rystrom family from a database of
Swedish immigrants. Minor content additions, text clarifications, and grammatical/formatting corrections were made on June 3,
2021.

Evolution of the Early Industrial Site

First pioneer settlers arrived in vicinity of present-day Geneva in 1833, including Daniel Shaw
Haight and James Brown. Following year, Frederick Bird, James Clayton Herrington and Christian
Bowen Dodson arrived. in the winter of 1834-35, Haight “sells out his claim” to Herrington.

Between 1835 and 1837, the newly-settled area was known concurrently as “Herrington’s Ford,”
“La Fox,” and “Campbell’s Ford.”

Between 1836 and 1840, the nucleus of a community formed on both the east and west banks of
the Fox River.

iMiay 1837, a piat for the City of Geneva was recorded for the settiement on the west bank of the
Fox River.

1835 — Samuel Sterling arrived at Geneva, living on west side of Fox River. (Joslyn, History of Kane County,
Volume 1, 1908, p. 819)

1836 - Julius and Edward Alexander arrived at Geneva (Kane), lllinois but apparently did not settle
permanently. (Geneva, lllinois: A History of Its Times and Places [“Geneva”])

1836 - Lyman German arrived and settled on east side of Fox River across from location of Geneva.
(Joslyn, History of Kane County, Voiume 1, 1908, p. 821}

Late 1836 or Early 1837 — Samuel Sterling and Mr. Gilbert built the first bridge across the Fox River at
Geneva, illinois. The bridge was swept away by the spring freshet before the bridge was completed.
Mr. Gilbert was likely P. C. Gilbert of Elgin or Truman Gilbert of South Elgin. Mr. Gilbert had been

involved in the construction of several dams upriver in 1836 and 1837. (The Past and Present of
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Kane County, Illinois [Chicago: Wm. LeBaron, Jr. & Co.], 1878, pp. 323, 359-360)

1837 - Samuel Sterling settled on east side of Fox River across from location of Geneva. (Joslyn, History
of Kane County, Volume 1, 1908, p. 819)

May 1837 — Samuel Sterling, Henry Madden, and Mark Daniels began erection of a sawmill, the first
industrial concern on the east bank of the Fox River at Geneva. A dam had been built that year (or
the previous year); a millrace had been partially completed; and a sawmill was expected to be
operational by the spring of 1838. it is probable that Mr. Gilbert of Elgin (who apparently had some
engineering experience) assisted in the design and construction of the first dam at Geneva. (Joslyn,
History of Kane County, Volume 1, 1908, p. 819)

June 30— July 1, 1837 - Julius and Edward Alexander arrived from Plainfield, illinois and settled along the
Fox River.

Julius and Edward Alexander were blacksmiths, by trade. The first task undertaken by the brothers
was assistance with the completion of the sawmill under construction. (Geneva, p. 33)

Julius Alexander laid claim to land on the east side of the Fox River (north and south of present-
day State Street).

“When they arrived, (Julius and Edward) cleared the land just north and east of the
present bridge, using the lumber to build and roof their first shop. Stone for the forge
and chimney came from the nearby quarry. Their first job was for Daniels, Stride, Sterling
and Company, the new proprietors of the dam and sawmill enterprise.... With the help
of Robert Lester and James and Ralph Adsit, the Alexanders built a one-and-a-half story
frame house.... The work done by Julius and Edward Alexander helped to complete the
sawmill so essential for (Geneva’s) growth.... The completion of the sawmill made Geneva
a little more self-reliant than before.” The first blacksmith shop of Julius Alexander was
built the year of the brothers’ arrival, 1837. (Geneva, p. 34 and The Past and Present of
Kane County, lllinois [Chicago: Wm. LeBaron, Jr. & Co.], 1878, p. 323)

October 1837 — Eben Danford arrived at Geneva. (Gibbons, The Founders and Early History of Geneva,
Kane County, lllinois, 2014, p. 464)

Autumn 1837- Summer 1838 — Eben Danford and David Lacy (also Lacey) dug the first millrace on the
east side of the Fox River. (Gibbons, The Founders and Early History of Geneva, Kane County, Illinois,
2014, p. 466)

Likely, Eben Danford and David Lacy completed the millrace that had been begun by Sterling,
Madden, and Daniels, who had built a dam and had begun construction of a sawmill in 1837. The
dam had been damaged during the spring of 1837.

Spring 1838 - Eben Danford and Aifred Churchill assembied a threshing and mowing machine, the
Danford Marvesting Machine which was demonstrated on August 16, 1841 tc positive reviews.
(Geneva, p. 37 and Gibbons, The Founders and Early History of Geneva, Kane County, lllinois, 2014,
pp. 220, 266)

Likely, the components of that first threshing machine were not manufactured at Geneva. The
patented Danford Reaper and Mower was not wholly produced at Geneva until 1850 when a






State (street), which has been confused in later histories with the third blacksmith shop of
the Alexander Brothers, built on the south side of State Street and was (in 1977) part of the
Mill Race Inn.” (Geneva, p. 38)

Some local histories identify the brick blacksmith shop that was built on the north side of State Street
as having been constructed in 1846. However, that is likely an error of historians confusing the north
and south blacksmith shops, primarily an account published in the 03 February 1894 The Geneva
Republican newspaper. Historical records, accounts and documents support an “early 1840s” date
for the brick structure (second blacksmith shop), which can be reasonably extrapolated to be the
circa 1842 date of construction. Consequently, the 1846 date of construction is, most appropriately,
associated with the limestone blacksmith shop (third shop of the Alexander brothers) on the south
side of State Street.

July 1, 1842 — julius Alexander and his wife sold 49 acres to Samuel Sterling and Allen Mubbard but

September 6, 1842 — Julius Alexander’s land

March 10, 1843 - U. S. Government issued a

retained the water rights granted in 1840 to Julius and his brother, Edward. This property lay north
of State Street and east of the Fox River, eventually being subdivided as Howards & Baird’s Addition
to the Town of Geneva. The retention of water rights suggests that the Alexander brothers had
established their brick shop by this time and that they intended to maintain operations along the
millrace. The same, 49-acre property was later deeded to Ira Minard (July 20, 1843), who transferred
the property to John Buttrick (June 1, 1844), who sold the property to Leonard Howard (July 1,
1844); the land comprised most of
Howard & Baird’s Addition to the Town
of Geneva (October 1851). (Kane
County Land Records, Book A, p. 197)
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several years. When new areas of land were offered for sale, long lines would form at district land
offices. Consequently, the long lines, zealous rush for prime parcels, and the long wait for the receipt
of patents resulted in the coining of the phrase “doing a land office business.”
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1843 - Eben, John, and Jarvis Danford moved from their rented furniture manufactory on the west bank
of the Fox River and buiit a new manufactory on the east side of the Fox River, along the east
millrace. Water-power supplied the energy to operate the power drive for various furniture-making
machinery, including turning lathes.

1843 - Leonard Howard and Alexander M. Baird were at St. Charles, where they were organizers of the
Franklin Medical College. (Joslyn, History of Kane County, Volume 1, 1908, p. 518)

Both Howard and Baird live near the Geneva —St. Charles border. Later, the two men establish
Howard & Baird’s Addition to the Town of Geneva.

1844 - David Lacy (also Lacey) built a blacksmith shop north of the Danford factory and, there,
manufactured hoes, hayforks, and knives. (Geneva, p. 38)

1845 - Leonard Howard was elected as Geneva Town President. (Joslyn, History of Kane County, Volume
1, 1908, p. 816)

1846 — Julius and Edward Alexander along with Lyman German constructed a limestone building for use
as a blacksmith shop. It is highly probable that this limestone blacksmith shop building on the south
side of State Street was erected in the spring and summer of 1843 (or shortly thereafter}. The source
of the limestone was either from the excavation of the mill race, itself, or from the small quarry
northeast of the site along the “east river road” (now Bennett Street / Illinois Route 25).

A deed, dated May 1, 1847, described the transfer of land situated on the south side of State Street
and along the east bank of the Fox River. The land was sold by Julius Alexander and his wife, Weaithy,
to Edward Alexander and Lyman German; however the deed noted the exemption and reservation—
by Julius Alexander—of “the undivided third part of a strip one hundred feet wide on the west side of
the lot, above described, it being the lot on which the Blacksmith Shop now stands, (emphasis
added) to have and to hold the same together with all and singular the tenements, hereditaments,
privileges and appurtenances thereto belonging or in any wise appertaining...” (Kane County Land
Records, Book 8, pp. 471-473)

While a source of water was necessary to cool small forgings, typical blacksmiths would utilize
several barrels of water but not require proximity to a water-power source. It is a most probably a
misnomer to identify the Alexander operation as a simple blacksmith shop and think the mistake
may be traced to two sources.

Federal census data for Geneva in 1850 does not distinguish between “blacksmith” and
“foundryman.” Although some census locations used the terms interchangeably, other locations
made a distinction. Apparently, the Geneva census enumerator fell into the former camp.

Based on a review of blacksmith shops, the need for waterpower is triggered by two needs: a power
drive for lathes to create wooden molds for certain types of castings (necessary for mill and
agricultural equipment) and—more importantly—the operation of a pile or trip hammer which was
useful for shaping large forged items such as shovel blades, plowshares, and turbine blades.

The operations of the Alexander brothers / Lyman German appear to have been more of a foundry
rather than traditional blacksmith shop (a place where small implements, horseshoes, and other,
common tools were produced). The large doorway at the east side of the limestone building would
have been necessary for large wagon repair but also to ship larger mill or factory components. The
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and wood planking; the cellar floor was likely dirt or, possibly, limestone slabs.
Circa 1846-48 — Danford Warehouse of limestone was constructed. (Geneva, p. 85)

The Danford Warehouse (still standing in 2018 on the west side of Bennett Street, just north of East State
Street) may have been constructed by Leonard Howard, the earliest known mason in Geneva. By
1850, Andrew Stevens is identified as a stonecutter (i.e. “quarryman”) and the following men were
identified (according to the 1850 United States Federal Census) as masons in the Village of Geneva:
George Coorwin, John Kelly, Robert Leicester (possibly Lester), Joseph Shaw, Stephen Torrence,
George Westgarth, James Westgarth, and Joseph Wisby.

1849 - John and Daniel Stevens (also Stephens) purchased the 1842 brick structure on the north side of
State Street and operated a paper mill in the building until 1851. (Geneva, p. 38)

1849 - Mr. and Mrs. John Stevens along with Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Stevens among 12 original
members who gathered the Geneva Congregational Church (Geneva, p. 263)

1850 — United States Federal Census:

Daniel Stevens, 51 (b. 1799 NJ), merchant John

Stevens, 46 (b. 1804 NJ), papermaker

Joseph C. Stevens, 37 (b. 1813 NJ), papermaker Henry

Shapatin, 35 (b. 1815 PA), papermaker

William Lawrence, 31 (b. 1819 NY), works in paper mill

Jacob K. Anthony, 25 (b. 1827 NJ), papermaker (later becomes Geneva’s first advertised druggist
[Geneva, p. 332])

Likely, the paper mill utilized cotton rag pulp rather than wood pulp since the process and machinery
for producing a quality paper from wood pulp was not developed until 1850. It is likely the paper
produced was for stationery and pampbhlet printing rather than for wallpaper or other large-scale
household use.

1850 — Eben Danford converted the furniture manufactory on the east side of the Fox River to a reaper
manufacturing facility. Despite the popularity of Danford’s reaper, threshing, and mowing machines, the
reaper factory closed in 1862 due to competition from larger factories—including Cyrus McCormick’s plant
at Chicago, combined with war-time shortages of materials, supplies, and manpower. (Gibbons, pp. 464-
475 and Geneva pp. 37-39)

1850 — The United States Federal Census for Geneva, lilinois identified the following men and
occupations related to water-powered industry or iron works:

Blacksmith: Julius Alexander, Otis P. Scott (Alexander household), George Henry, David Lacey,
Carter Longley, Royal J. Pier, Philetus Pier, and Joseph Williams

Wagon Maker / Wheelwright: Oscar Brown, Jarvis Danford, Oscar Dewey, Cornelius Haight and
William Haight

Miller: Andrew McWayne/McWagner, Brigham Moore / Morse, and James Shuttleworth

1851 ~ Stevens Paper Mill 2t Geneva closed. The business was sold to and continued by O. M. Butler of St.
Charles (03 February 1894 The Geneva Republican)




Circa 1852 — David Lacy sold his interests at Geneva and relocated to Kansas Territory, settling at
Bourbon County by 1855. (Kane County Land Records, Book 20, pp. 111-112 and Kansas State Census
Records, and Find-A-Grave.com)

July 31, 1853 — Julius Alexander and his wife, Wealthy transferred (by Quit Claim Deed) two parcels of
land along the east bank of the Fox River, north and south of State Street to Ira Minard. The south parcel
is the site of the Alexander Brothers’ Blacksmith Shop. (Kane County Land Records, Book 39, p. 364)

1854 - john Rystrom, a blacksmith, emigrated from Rydaholm, Sweden arrived at Geneva in 1854. Upon
his arrival, he formed a partnership with John Rysjo, a Swede and carriage maker. The two men took
over the former Alexander Blacksmith Shop and added a frame second floor to the building, where
carriages were upholstered and painted. (Geneva, p. 85)

A newspaper account (recollections of a local resident) identified that John Rystrom, “in the early
sixties” established a “carriage and wagon manufactory at the east end of the bridge in the building
where the (Oscar Carlson’s Excelsior) laundry is now located.” (03 February 1894 The Geneva
Republican). However, based on other documents, John Rystrom established and was operating his
wagon shop much earlier, likely established no later than 1855. The published recollection in the
local newspaper is more likely a reference to when Rystrom added the second floor to the original
limestone structure buiit at ieast 15-20 years earlier. The wooden, second fioor of the Rystrom
Carriage and Wagon manufactory, therefore, may be dated to between 1860 and 1863 since
material and labor shortages significantly increased as the Civil War continued (1861-1865).

John Rystrom and his workers were highly regarded as carriage and wagon makers.

Based on Federal census data, immigration documents, and other records, the Rystrom’s family
arrival at Geneva can be summarized as follows:

John Rystrom (b. 1821) arrived in Geneva from Sweden in the company of his wife, Annie/Anna
(Stina) (b. 1825), along with their first three children, friends, and relatives.

The Rystrom children were: Anders/Andrew (b. 1847); Mary (b. 1849); Christina (b. 1852); John
A. (b. 1856); Charles (b. 1858); Albert (b. 1860); Edward “Eddie” (b. 1865); and Clara (b. 1867) -
all born in lllinois except Mary (Sweden).

Arriving also from Sweden and residing with the Rystrom family were:
John Riders (b. 1839), wagonmaker;
John Peterson (b. 1821), blacksmith; and
May Carey (b. 1817), presumed sister-in-law.

Under john Rystrom, the 1846 limestone structure was altered dramatically. Although the
limestone structure of the Alexander Brothers’ blacksmith shop remained in its original form, a
wood-framed second floor was constructed above the original limestone building. Consequently,
the original roof structure (presumably a gable roof with an east-west ridge) was removed and
replaced with a2 new floor structure, constructed—most probably—of heavy timber posts and
beams with plank flooring. The second floor was utilized—as was the common practice—for the
upholstery and paint shop of Rystrom’s carriage and wagon manufactory. An inclined ramp, rising
to the new second floor from State Street, allowed for the movement of lightweight carriages
from one level to the other. Apparently, the new second floor addition incorporated an east-west
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The only member of the Updike family that has been recorded as a painter was William Updike,
who—through his relatives—was acquainted with the Rystrom family. The Rystrom family had
acquired land near the Geneva wagon and carriage shop from William Updike’s older cousin,
Johnson Updike. As a painter, William Updike may have worked at the Rystrom shop under Andrew
Rystrom.

William Updike was born in 1828 at Somerset County, New Jersey, where he had learned the trade
of painter. William Updike arrived at Geneva in 1850 but moved to Batavia, lllinois, where he went
to work for the U. S. Wind Engine & Pump Company of Batavia. There, he became foreman of the
painting department. He engaged in his trade, for a time, with the Chicago & North Western Railroad.
He may have taken over the Rystrom wagon and carriage shop for a brief time between 1879 and
1884, when “tiring of the brush”...he “abandoned it for the cleaver” and opened a meat market in
Batavia. (Commemorative Portrait and Biographical Record of Kane and Kendall Counties, I,
[Chicago: Beers. Leggett & Co.], 1888, p. 775)

Circa 1880 — Site purchased by Lewis E. and Huldah Landon.

Lewis Landon of Wheaton, lllinois was the father of Sarah Landon, first wife of Charles E. Mann;
Sarah Landon and Charles E. Mann married in 1868.

No significant information has been discovered about Landon or the early use of the property under
the Landon’s ownership; however, the building may have continued to be used as a carriage and
wagon shop for a short period of time, possibly under the hand of William Updike.

It is probable that Lewis & Huldah Landon were little more than landlords and that the property
continued to operate as a carriage shop until mid-summer 1882.

No significant modifications or improvements were known to have been made during the period
from 1875-1882.
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1882 - C. E. Mann began the manufacture of patented
potato planter along with cheese and butter boxes.

Charles E. Mann resigned his position as Kane County
Superintendent of Schools and Principal of Geneva
Schools. He began a manufacturing site in the former
Rystrom wagon and carriage shop “at the east end of

bridge.” (The Geneva Republican, Volume 47, Issue
12, March 24, 1894)

An undated advertisement ({right, courtesy of
Geneva History Museum files), appears to have been
published around the time that C. E. Mann opened
his shop on East State Street. The advertisement
states:

New Milk Wagons, Buggies or Cutters, Horse-
shoeing, and all kinds of Blacksmithing Painting
and Wood Work. We wish to invite special
attention to the fact that we are now prepared
to furnish MILK WAGONS, BUGGIES or CUTTERS

—[N EW[— .

MILK-WAGONS,

Buggies or Cutters,

HORSE - SHOEING,

And nll Kinds of

BLACKSMITHING

Painting and Wood Work.

We wish o invita sspeoiad attention ta bka jurt Buzt wn are now
preparwd to furnlsh RILK WAGOKS, W.@mﬁs or QUTTERS ot
prices laus thoen bhey cen be bouglt vt tha faakory.  Qeb prives alss-
where if yot wish aed then come and seo ws

4t the requost of many peirons we ars sow propured io do
HQRSE-SHAGING, heving Gullt a shop capocially fur thet pacpess.

We adoo do all kinds of wosd or iran Ropairing, ail kixds of
euugol: wr cnrriags BAINTING, SPHOLITERING, top-draseing, «do.

The eivantage, bath in canvechursg nad i coet of Aaoing o8 of
a ok, consisting, porhaps, nf biucksmitlang, wood work, painbimy
and wpholsiering, donae at vne place tr apparent to ang ona

e intend do do alk wock GREAP, hict wo expeot caxh [or it, us we
Dy ensh for everpthing, hut we will give owr austoniers the udesn-
tage of su doing and on @l bills m@umh‘su o' Flye Qollzes e @608 e
witl alfew, for BFOP CGARH, 1 dheount of § por cout.

Come to $ho shop %% bl cast end of tha bridge, Geneva, 2L, and
huve your repairing dene ur give your order for neyrwork.

©. B. MANN.

at prices less than they can be bought at the factory. Get prices elsewhere if you wish and then

come and see us.

At the request of many patrons we are now prepared to do HORSE-SHOEING, having built a

shop especially for that purpose... (emphasis added)

The advertisement suggests that Charles E. Mann erected the wood-framed blacksmith shop to the
east of the stone structure between 1880 and 1883. However, Mann may have simply remodeled
the east wing depicted in the 1869 Bird’s Eye View of Geneva engraving.

“(Charles E.) Mann’s factory turned out a patented potato digger, cheese boxes and similar items
beginning in 1882. He started in the abandoned Rystrom carriage shop at the east end of the bridge.”

(Geneva, p. 56)

October 1884 (recorded 1887) - Site sold to “Clyde E. Mann.”
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error) since Clyde Mann was only 10 years old at
the time of the transaction; 13 years old at the
rQ-] time of recording. Also, Clyde’s middle name

, -~ - l This entry is confusing (and, likely, a recording

'Q\E' L5 was “Alison.”
o KX
’t‘a Q' . Q Clyde’s father was Charles E. Mann (1844-1907),
LS '\il | ,g who arrived in Geneva during the 1860s and, in
AN .3. -‘-‘Q —— the early 1880s, practiced law briefly at Geneva,
§ but before and afterward served as

Superintendent of Schools at Geneva, St.
Charles, and Batavia as well as serving as the
Kane County Superintendent of Schools.
Charles E. Mann was instrumental in
establishing the high school at Geneva (1874)
and served as its first Principal.
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Charles E. Mann was first married to Sarah
Landon (1847-1883); following her death, C. E.

Mann married Emma Violet Curtis (1854-1932).
Two children were born of the first marriage: Mary Estella (1876-1944) and Clyde Alison (1874-
1966).

1885 — Alexander Blacksmith Shop / Rystrom Carriage and Wagon Shop remained (1846 limestone
building) and was operating as C. E. Mann’s Cooperage. (1885 Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. map)

According to several histories, the State Street property was converted to a barrel making factory
(cooperage) and a manufactory of wooden butter tubs and cheese boxes as well as a patented
potato planter. However, other sources suggest that

Mann’s patented potato planter was manufactured at his plant on the north side of State Street.

The building was remodeled to accommodate manufacturing equipment and a steam-powered
lineshaft, powered by a 12 horsepower engine. A vertical steam boiler was vented through a 20
foot tall brick and iron chimney.

Because the cooperage business was so successful, C. E. Mann, in 1885, partnered with Walter D.
Turner. The two men erected a new building on the former Danford Reaper Works site and moved
the manufacturing company to the north side of State Street (where Mann’s potato planter was
produced). However, later that year, Walter D. Turner and his family decided to move to California
and the brief partnership was dissolved. (The Geneva Republican, Volume 47, Issue 12, March 24,
1894 and Geneva, p. 56)

October 27-28, 1888 — Fire broke out at Mann’s shops on East State Street and was discovered
around midnight on Saturday, October 27, 1888. The fire was extinguished in the early morning
of Sunday, October 28, 1888, resuiting in a loss of $15,000. The fire destroyed the three-year-old
factory on the north side of State Street and wiped-out Mann, financially. Insufficient insurance was
in place at the time of the fire to cover rebuilding immediately. (Sterling Standard, Sterling, lllinois,
November 1, 1888, p 1) According to Walter D. Turner, the fire was intentionally set by “a fiend”
who destroyed the cooperage building. (The Geneva Republican, Volume 47, Issue 12, March 24,
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1894)

Other accounts attributed the October 1888 fire to “drunken loafers loafing around the building.”
The Geneva Improvement Association pledged to assist C. E. Mann in rebuilding and putting his 25-
30 employees back to work as soon as possible. (Geneva Patrol, November 1888 — courtesy of the
Geneva History Museum).

Presumably, Mann set up shop at a leased location in Block 5 of the Original Town of Geneva.

Within two weeks of the fire, Mr. Mann, a City Alderman, presented a proposal for fire pumps and
hoses to the City Council; the report was accepted and approved to seek funding for the equipment.
(Geneva Patrol, November 1888 — courtesy of the Geneva History Museum).

December 7, 1889 — Petition for two crossings (presumably of the “Glucose rail spur”) at Mann’s Cooper
Shop was approved by Geneva City Council. (City of Geneva, Illinois — City Council Minutes for
December 7, 1889)

March 1890 — Charles E. Mann acquired Block 5 in the Original Town of Geneva (Fourth and Stevens
Streets, north of the “Glucose Line” of the Chicago & Northwestern Railway); purchased from
Emily Herrington, et. al. (Kane County Land Records)

1890 — The New Haven Wire Goods Factory & Cooperage was established at Aurora; Baker & Morton
laid out an addition to the city but defauited and did not build a factory, as promised, for New
Haven Wire Goods Factory & Cooperage. (Joslyn and Joslyn. History of Kane County, 1908. Volume
1, p. 589 and Bateman, Selby and Wilcox, Historical Encyclopedia of lllinois and History of Kane
County, 1904. Volume 2, p. 794)

1890-1891 - Dr. Stephen C. Gillett, of Aurora, and associates acquired the Baker & Morton Addition to
the City of Aurora, sold the platted lots; and built a factory, presented to New Haven Wire Goods
Factory & Cooperage. (Joslyn and Joslyn. History of Kane County, 1908. V1, p 589 and Bateman,
Selby and Wilcox, Historical Encyclopedia of Illinois and History of Kane County, 1904. Volume 2, p.
794)

The New Haven Wire Goods Factory & Cooperage began operations at Aurora on February 10,
1891 (The Chicago Tribune, Chicago, lllinois, February 11, 1891, p. 5)

Circa March 1891 — The newly-constructed Charles E. Mann Cooper Shop & Tub Factory at Fourth and
Stevens streets in Geneva were completed and in full operation.
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The property and large industrial complex incorporated several large manufacturing buildings
including a barrel-making (cooper’s) shop, a butter tub shop, two lumber sheds and a warehouse.
The “Mann Shops” were serviced by a rail spur that facilitated the receiving of raw materials and
the shipping of finished products. The property was large enough to accommodate future
expansion of the manufacturing facility.
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Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. map - September 1891 %

Circa March to July 1891 - Sanborn Fire Insurance map survey team documents Geneva, illinois buildings.
(The Sanborn Map Co. prepared its maps with an army of surveyors traveling from town to town,
literally working from strangers’ backyards [although surveyors were told to contact the police
station first, stories abound of surveyors being thrown in jail, attacked by dogs, or reported as spies].
Relying heavily on their “Surveyors’ Manual,” surveyors recorded careful notes and diagrams that
were then developed into intricately drawn, hand-colored maps that have become invaluable to
historians. Surveyors gathered information from local courthouses but, where information was not
readily available, actually measured individual buildings by hand. Field surveyors often spent several
weeks to several months gathering information in a local community before the field survey
notebooks were delivered to New York City where cartographers drew the maps; lithographers
printed the maps; and artists hand-tinted the maps. The entire mapping process would require two
to six months from sending forth surveyors to issuing of the completed maps.)

Source: https://www.historyassociates.com/resources/blog/notes-from-the-field-mapping-history-with-sanborn-maps/
and http://www.loc.gov/rr/geogmap/sanborn/sandal.html accessed February 23, 2018)
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In any case, between 1885 and 1891, the circa 1853-1868 second floor above the stone building
(including the inclined ramp), attributable to Rystrom, was removed along with the frame
building to the east.

Late 1891 - Early 1893 — The New Haven Wire Goods Factory & Cooperage at Aurora (owned by the
Chicago Wire Goods Company) failed (June 17, 1891); the factory was sold on August 22, 1892 for
the Dulaney Clock Company of Valparaiso, Indiana (however, the clock company appears to have
never occupied the Aurora factory and ended up at Elgin, Illinois); and the factory, machinery, and
assets were sold off to E. W. Hall, who acquired the factory but only operated for a few months
before fire destroyed a portion of the building and machinery. Hall suspended operations at Aurora.
(Joslyn and Joslyn. History of Kane County, 1908. V1, p 589 and The Chicago Tribune, Chicago, lllinois,
June 18, 1891, p 8 and The Inter-Ocean, Chicago, lllinois August 23, 1892, p 12 and The Inter-Ocean,
Chicago, Illinois, November 10, 1893, p. 7)

1892 - Frank E. Stevens moved from Sweden to Geneva in 1892 and, first, was employed for six months
at a local foundry and, then, for six months at a local “coopering establishment,” presumed to be
Mann’s (which was the only known such establishment in Geneva at that time). (Joslyn and Joslyn,
History of Kane County, 1908. Volume 2, p. 194)

Mid-1892 — Former Rystrom Wagon Shop and former C. E.
Mann cooper shop at East State Street, Geneva, was
rehabilitated to be utilized for the Oscar Carlson
Laundry, known formally as the Excelsior Laundry.
(Eric Anderson letter and Margaret A. Allen paper and
Colin Campbell and The Geneva Patrol, May 20,
1896, all courtesy of Geneva History Museum)

A shed roof (sloping from north to south) was
constructed at the former C. E. Mann shops building
at East State Street, based on Geneva History
Museum images with Kane County Courthouse in
background (courthouse completed in September
1892).

“LanA v

August 1892 - Excelsior Laundry operated by Carlson &
Gustavson opened on the 29™ of August (Geneva Republican 23 September 1892). In addition to
operating the Excelsior Laundry, Oscar Carlson was employed full-time; first, at the Howell Foundry
and, after 1910, at the Burgess-Norton Company. (U. S. Federal Census records, obituary and Geneva
History Museum files)

March 30, 1893 - C. E. Mann’s Cooperage on North Fourth Street was destroyed by fire for second time;
$11,000 loss. (The Geneva Republican, Geneva, Illinois, April 1, 1893, p. 1 and The _Geneva
Republican, Geneva, lllinois, April 8, 1893, p. 1 and DeKalb Chronicle, DeXalb, Illinois, April 8, 1893,
p. 7 and The Belvidere Standard, Belvidere, Illinois, April 12, 1893, p. 8 and Marion County Democrat,
Salem, Illinois, April 28, 1893, p. 2)

Circa May — June 1893 — The Aurora Cooperage Company was organized “with C. E. Mann, of Geneva, as
manager, which bought the (Aurora) factory, and Mr. Mann moved some cooper’s machinery from
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Geneva into it and continued the manufacture of barrels and butter tubs in large quantities.” An
announcement of organization of the Aurora Cooperage Co. at Aurora, lilinois was published in The
Iron Trade Review “for manufacturing and general cooperage business; incorporators: S. C. Gillett,
E. W. Hall, C. E. Mann, Edw. Pierce, Pierce Burton. Address letters to Hopkins, Aldrich & Thatcher,
Aurora, lIl.” (The Iron Trade Review, Vol 26, Issue No. 27; Cleveland, Ohio and Chicago, Illinois. July
6, 1893 and The Chicago Tribune, Chicago, lIllinois, May 10, 1893, p. 13) (SEE ALSO:
https://books.google.com/books?id=N2U6AQAAMAAI&pg=RA47-PA18&Ipg=RA47-
PA188&dqg=%22Aurora+Cooperage%22+Aurora,+llinois&source=bl&ots=5kTrihQDra&sig=fcUTb 1Q
YzTizhkpoJbJhCMCgb4&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwjas-
rsx8LZAhUIxoMKHUhhB38Q6AEINjAD#v=0onepage&q=%22Aurora%20Cooperage%22%20Aurora%
2C%20lllinois&f=false accessed February 23, 2018)

The barrel-making work resumed at the Geneva factory by mid-June 1893; however, the butter tub
manufacturing was reported to be moving to Aurora. (The Geneva Republican, June 17, 1893). Dr.
Stephen C. Gillett served as President of the Aurora company and his son, William E. Gillett, served
as Treasurer. Under the management of C. E. Mann, the Aurora Cooperage Company was never
profitable. (Joslyn and Joslyn. History of Kane County, 1908. Volume 1, p. 589)

1893 — Frank E. Stevens moved to Aurora, where “he was employed by the Aurora Cooperage Company”
for one year. (Joslyn and Joslyn. History of Kane County, 1908. Volume 2, p. 194)

August 3, 1893 — “C. Rebenstorff, foreman of the Aurora Cooperage, has purchased a home near the
factory and has moved his family to this city from Geneva.” (Source: Aurora Daily Express, Aurora,
linois. August 3, 1893, Issue 3377, p. 3)

February 1894 — The Mann Shops at Geneva were closed down, and the remaining lumber stock was
purchased for use in a new home in the Wilcox Addition to Geneva. (The Geneva Republican,
February 9, 1894)

May 16, 1896 — A thunderstorm struck Geneva, lllinois which may have initiated a fire at the Carlson
Laundry on East state Street at the east end of the bridge. The fire was quickly extinguished “but
not until it had ruined all the inside apparatus, and damaged the building somewhat.” (emphasis
added) (The Geneva Patrol, May 20, 1896) The implication of the article is that the building
structure was salvageable but likely resulted in the damage to the roof structure that remains in
2018.

1896 - C. E. Mann was removed as manager of The Aurora Cooperage Company and replaced by William
E. Gillette, who continued to serve as both manager and Treasurer with great success. (Joslyn and
Joslyn. History of Kane County, 1908. Volume 1, p. 589 and Bateman, Selby and Wilcox. Historical
Encyclopedia of lllinois and History of Kane County, 1904. Volume 2, p. 794) Note: The Aurora
Cooperage Company continued in operation until 1923 (National Coopers’ Journal, Philadelphia,
Volume 38, No. 11, March 1923, p. 11)

1896 - 1897 —- Operated by Oscar Carlson, the Excelsior Laundry on East State Street “at the east end of

the bridge” was advertised in the Kane County Business Directory. (Geneva History Museum
collections)
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Jan 1900 - Ciyde A. Mann sold the property to

June 1897 - C. E. Mann accepted employment as the Superintendent of St. Charles, illinois schools.

October 1897 — The building at the south side of State Street, immediately east of the bridge, was

identified as “vacant” on the Sanborn Fire insurance Co. map.

The notation indicates that the building may

have been sitting idie following the May
1896 fire or that Oscar Carlson simply closed
down or relocated his laundry following the
fire. The building may or may not have yet
been repaired or reconstructed. It is
probable that C. E. Mann, who by this time
had returned to the educational profession,
had transferred the property to his son,
Clyde A. Mann during the bankruptcy
proceedings earlier that same year. It is
probable that no funds existed to fully
restore the building or that Clyde A. Mann
was in the process of disposing of his father’s
property.

Charles W. Carter.

Sanborn Fire insurance Co. map — October 1897

Charles Willard Carter (1868-1957) was the
brother-in-law of Clyde A. Mann; married to
Mary Estella (Mann) Carter (1871-1944).
Presumably, the property provided rental
income to the Carter family, who lived in
Aledo (Mercer County), lllinois, where he
was a physician.

The Excelsior / Carlson Laundry ceased to
exist at this location sometime between
1897 and circa 1902. N6 known
modifications to the building have been
identified during this period.

JOBEPH KIRK, retired farmer, Gepneva,
born Ang, 24, 1842, in Lanarkshire, Scottand,
gon of Joweph and Chariotte {Bcholes) Kirk;
came 1o the United States fn 1857, when about
fourieern years oid: ifved at Nosthford, Come.,
untfl 1866, when he came to {tilnols sud set-
tied on & farm caal of Bt. Charles, Kane County,
remaining four years, when he tocuied on & favm
which he had dought north of 8i. Cheries. He
spetit & year tn Maple Park and about four years
in what is now Lily Lake. Ta 1873 he moved to
& farm of 160 seres which he now owag, aBd o6&
whieh he lived untt! he retired from active work
in 1900, The Intier year he removed (0 Qenova,
where he now (1963 resides, and rente hbis

farem to his iwo sous, While & resident of Life
triet No. 6, aenr 8¢, Charites, he aerved twelyve
years rs Bchoo! [Hrectar. Mr. Kirk waa mer
ried Mareh 17, 1845 te Mise Mary Ann, dangh-
ter of Willium Marshall, of Si. Chartes. in
political belte? he fz & Nopubliean.

Circa 1902 — The former blacksmith shop-turned-
carriage shop-turned laundry was occupied (likely
rented) by Joseph Kirk, who established a painting
shop in the limestone building.

Joseph Kirk (1842-1918) came to Kane

Fird A Grave Memioriai 19281282
www.findagrave.com
www.Ancestry.com

three years in Connecticut). He married
Mary Ann Marshall at Kane County on March
17, 1865 after serving in the Civil War. They
were the parents of ten children: Sarah, Jennie, Lottie, Hattie, Minnie, Joseph “John” W. (1876-
1912), Estella, Maggie, George (1885-1961), and Irene. He farmed near St. Charles, lllinois. In 19GG,
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he retired and moved the following year to Geneva. Around 1902, Joseph Kirk—at the age of 60—
rented the State Street property from and managed the property for the Carter family (who lived at

Aledo, lllinois). Joseph Kirk opened a painting shop, presumably for the painting of carriages, buggies,

and wagons.

By 1904, the building at the “east end of the State Street 1 " «

bridge” had been occupied as the painting shop of Joseph | || ‘@ <. g

Kirk for approximately two years. John it e; 3
In late 1903, the property was rented by John M. . i

Updike of Batavia, Illinois, who continued the painting nF BATAVIA
and varnishing of carriages, buggies, and wagons at the =

property. {January 9, 1904 Geneva Republican) : T,
Hawng rented. the Paint|/,

Shop of Joseph Kn‘k onff
the east side, :

GENEVA, 'ILLf..' | J

i Is prepared to "do all
|| work in the .
‘ PAINTING AND . |,
n VARNISHINET; .e'e !

hne. Car-

nage buggy ahd wagon
work a. Specxalty

All Work First cms‘smd :
Guaranteed. PrlcesReas-

onable. Shop east end of}|’

Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. map - May 1905 ' | Late Btreet Bﬂm !

This may be the “Updike” mentioned in the undated letter from Eric Anderson (Geneva History
Museum Collections — see pages 10-11 of this report) stated in reference to Anne Forsyth’s Mill Race
Inn restaurant: “Remember your building, vacancy of it. Never remember it as a blacksmith shop.
Remember it as Carlson laundry and a paint shop. A fella by name of Updike from Batavia running
it. Wagon painter.”

May 1905 — One story “Painting Shop” was recorded on the Sanborn Fire
Insurance Co. map. (image to right)

Margaret A. (Alexander) Allen presented an account to the Geneva Historical Society with a
mention of two men who used the building for wagon and carriage painting after Oscar Carison
closed his laundry and abandoned the East State Street building. However, she is not specific about
the dates of this occupation. (Geneva History Museum) Presumably, the men that Margaret Allen
did not identify were John M. Updike and Joseph Kirk between circa 1902 and circa 1906. John
Montgomery Updike, Jr. is listed in the 1910 Federal census as a widowed carriage painter (shop
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October 1912 — One story “Painting Shop” was
recorded on the Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. map.

Presumably, the blacksmith and wagon shop
went out of business prior to 1912, possibly

shortly after the grade of State Street was

raised. No additional information about the

nature of the “painting shop” is known;

however, it is possible that the sons of Joseph

Kirk (Joseph “John” W. Kirk and George Marshall
Kirk) re-established their father’s earlier painting

business.

Circa 1918 — Building is believed to have been used as

a machinist’s (repair) shop by brothers George M. Kirk

and Joseph “John” Kirk.

Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. map —- October 1912

December 1921 — The property was sold by Charles W. Carter to George M. Kirk.

At this point in time, no family other than the extended Mann family owned the property for a
longer period of time; the property was held by that family for at least 37 years. Although the Mann
family did not occupy the premises the entire time, the building underwent significant alterations—

in response to calamity and necessity—during the Mann family tenure.

No significant changes to the structure have been identified during this period. However, the mill
race on the west side of the limestone building had begun to fili in with soil. It is possible that
during this period, some of the original limestone walls may have been painted at either the

interior or exterior or both.

September 1922 - Building and property were sold at Sheriff’s Sale to Emery T. Moore.

Emery Thomas Moore (b. 18 May 1870 at Lisbon, lllinois) was a resident of St. Charles, Illinois. He
had been engaged as a retail merchant in 1910, but had become a real estate dealer, specializing in
farmland by 1930. When he died on 27 October
1938, he was engaged in farming and had lived for

60 years at St. Charles.

May 1923 - Building was used for an auto business as

recorded on Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. map. (image to

right) The recorded use could have referred to either

auto sales or auto repair.

By this date, the building consisted only of the
1846 limestone structure; however, decorative
parapet walls (likely wood-framed construction)
were added at the roofline above the originai
limestone walls of 1846.

Presumably, Emery T. Moore replaced the
wooden floor structure (likely plank over heavy
timber frame) with the existing, cast-in-place
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concrete floor structure in order to adapt the building for automobile sales and/or repairs. At this
time, the south basement may have been filled.

In 1923-1924 (per City Council Minutes of October 1923), a one-story, masonry automobile sales and repair
garage (Lundeen Garage built by the Wilson Brothers, Geneva contractors) was constructed on the lot east
of the property that would become the Mill Race Inn. It is possible—but unlikely—that the new building
may have accommodated the business that had been housed (circa 1918-1930) in the former Alexander
Brothers’ Blacksmith Shop, built of limestone by 1846.

March 1929 - Emery T. Moore sold the property to John R. Tallman, who opened a plumbing and heating
business in the building.

John R. Tallman (b. 19 Sep 1882) was a resident of Geneva, lllinois, where he worked as a plumber
prior to and after 1920.

John R. Tallman was married to Elizabeth (b. 1880) in 1901, and they had at least three children:
Wheeler (b. 1903), Bernice (b. 1906) and Grace (b. 1919).

1930 - Occupied as the Plumbing and Heating Shop of John Tallman. (per several historical accounts)

Federal Census identifies Taliman as “proprietor of piumbing shop,” but he likely closed his business
near the onset of the Great Depression (1929-1938) and began farming on South Batavia Road,
where he remained through at least 1940. John R. Tallman died in August 1962.

1933 - John R. Tallman leased the former industrial property to Anne Forsyth, who named her new
restaurant “Mill Race inn.”

Anne Forsyth was single and a resident of Aurora, lllinois, where she had worked in a variety of
clerical positions before becoming a police woman at Aurora (according to records of the Geneva
Historical Society per Glorianne Campbell, presenter of “Remembering the Mill Race Inn” lecture
on January 14, 2014).

Anne’s father, Alex, had been an official with the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy (C B & Q) Railroad,
but had died in 1913. At that time, Anne (b. 20 Nov 1875) lived with her mother, Rose M.; a
spinster (unmarried) sister, Margaret “Marjorie” (b. 25 Oct 1873), who was a kindergarten teacher
in the local schools; and an adopted, bachelor brother and artist, Harold (b. 1909). The family
(said to be a missionary family according to records of the Geneva Historical Society) lived at 78 S.
Root Street, Aurora.

Kate Raftery of The Little Traveler shops and lunch room which—as a gift shop and restaurant
established in the late 1920s—had operated successfully and grown “topsy-turvy” on Third Street,
encouraged Anne Forsyth to open the small restaurant on the east bank of the Fox River. Kate
Raftery also encouraged several other women to open restaurants, bookstores, art studios, and gift
shops in downtown Geneva. Also at this time, Kate Raftery encouraged artists, literary people, and
upper middle class families to move to Geneva.
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Circa 1940-45 — Anne Forsyth completed

second renovation of her restaurant.
At this time, the Kitchen was
expanded at the northeast corner
of the 1846 former mill building
of limestone, and—likely about
1940—an open-air porch and
attached pavilion was
constructed to the south of the
original 1846 building.

Within a short time, the
1940s-era  pavilion was @
screened for outdoor dining S
and special events use. oy
Q-

Possibly, the space was
utilized for dancing, especially
with the return of veterans
from World War li.

Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. map - August 1945

Itis likely that, during this period, the exposed limestone walls in the Kitchen and support areas
were painted for a healthier food preparation environment.

March 1946 - Property was sold by Anne Forsyth to Mill Race Inn, Inc.

The parties to the new corporation included Anne Forsyth along with her sister, Marjorie, and
Kathleen Covey; Anne Forsyth was 71 years old.

After 1946, the extent of Anne Forsyth’s involvement in the daily operation of the restaurant is
unclear; however, it is probable that she reduced her day-to-day association with her advancing
age.

Consequently, the years of Anne Forsyth’s significant years of management and operation of the
Mill Race Inn ceased sometime between 1946 and 1955, but most probably in 1946.

. . . . . . C. E. Mann’
At this point in time, the cozy dining setting along the scenic Fox River—the halilf alacks:u;:s

Forsyth’s original Mill Race Inn—began to disappear in favor of an ever-larger resta| shop, circa
expanding customer base. 1882-1896
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Several windows had been broken; exterior decking was in poor condition and the pavement and sidewalks
were beginning to deteriorate. Furnishings and miscellaneous restaurant appointments, along with
upholstered furniture and worn carpeting, were scattered throughout the complex. Kitchen fixtures—with
few exceptions—had been removed in their entirety.

Building systems (electrical, HVAC and plumbing) were antiquated and installed in piecemeal fashion
throughout the rambling complex. It was doubtful that any building systems retain any functional utility.
Water had flooded the lowest basements areas of the structure; however, no standing water was evident in
the 1846 cellar. In fact, little evidence of water ever being present within the 1846 cellar existed; the 1846
cellar floor was substantially higher than the newer basements. The presence of standing water and the long-
vacant condition combined to create a poor interior environment.

Demolition of the post-1945 additions to the original building as weli as efforts to “mothball” the original
structure between 2016 and 2018 preserved the remaining portions of the original 1846 structure that had
been modified over time, principally for the establishment of the Mill Race Inn restaurant in 1933.

What Remains of the Alexander Brothers’ Early Settlement Buildings?

The earliest structures attributed to the Julius and Edward Alexander have disappeared from the Geneva
landscape: the original Alexander Brothers’ Blacksmith Shop (1837-38) north of State Street; their wood- frame
home (1837-38); and their 1842 brick blacksmith shop on the north side of State Street. In fact, records that
indicate the second 1842 building exists are incorrect.

However, the circa 1846 limestone structure—which measures approximately 30’ X 48’ and comprises little
more than 1400 square feet of the entire property—remained clearly visibie within the rambling Mill Race inn
complex. The circa 1846 limestone building is, in fact, the third blacksmith shop of the Alexander brothers
and the remaining, settlement-era building directly associated with this important pioneer family.

Identifiable, today, by the original limestone bearing walls, the Alexander Brothers’ 1846 blacksmith shop no
longer retains its original floor or roof. However, that condition is not as much an issue of building
deterioration as a case of building evolution over time.

Three of the four original exterior walls of the 1846 limestone structure were visible within the present- day
building; the exterior and interior faces of those walls are readily visible. However, the historic exterior face
of the east wall is largely obscured from examination or observation; the interior face is largely exposed.

Unfortunately, approximately 15% of the historic west wall and approximately 40% of the historic east wall
have been altered over time. The west wall loss encompasses a portion of the bearing wall and at least one
original window opening. The east wall loss incorporates a large area that was once a sizable doorway (see
circa 1892-1909 image). However, an initial assessment suggests that at least 82% of the original walls, as
exposed in 1846, remain intact with minor modifications made for Anne Forsyth’s restaurant in 1933.

The cellar level of the 1846 manufactory building remains in exceptional condition. However, the original
ceiling / floor structure has been replaced with poured concrete over time.

Although some historic window and door openings of the 1846 structure remain unaltered (particularly at the

north fagade), few—if any—retain original jambs. Where historic jambs exist, no historic window sash or doors
were evident during the site visit. Many window openings appear to retain original lintels and sills.
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What Examples of Pre-Civil War Industrial Buildings Remain in the Fox River Valley?

Although a comprehensive survey of this building type has not been undertaken, it appears—based on surveys
of many communities south of and including Elgin, lllinois—that the Alexander Brothers’ blacksmith shop
building at Geneva is one of a handful of the original, pre-Civil War, industrial buildings remaining (in 2019) in
the Fox River valley. The 1840s Bennett Mill at Aurora was dis-assembled and reconstructed at a new site with
old and new material and is a recreation (but not an authentic building) employing both historic and modern
building techniques. The most impressive, surviving, pre-Civil War industrial building is the 1854 Gray Mill at
Montgomery (but the foundry there was dismantied along with other river-powered factories many decades
ago). The blacksmith/foundry industry that was key to the development of these river communities is all but lost
at this point in time (July 2019). No other pre-Civil War industrial buildings have been located as a result of
previous studies of Ottawa, Sheridan, Millington, Plano, Yorkville, Oswego, Montgomery, Aurora, St. Charles,
South Elgin, and Elgin. While highly unlikely, it is possible that one or two sites may be as indiscernible as the
Geneva property when it was enveloped within the Mill Race Inn. Perhaps, an early, industrial building of this
type lies north of Elgin. However, it is unclear whether the communities north of Elgin (East Dundee, West
Dundee, Carpentersville, Algonquin, Fox River Grove, Cary, Port Barrington, Burton’s Bridge, Island Lake, Holiday
Hills, McHenry [Gagetown], Johnsburg, or Fox Lake) have ever been surveyed for this type of structure. With the
possible exception of McHenry [Gagetown)], the towns north of Elgin were settled as either agricultural centers,
railroad stops, or entertainment resorts; many were established in the early to mid-twentieth century. Only
McHenry [Gagetown] references any sort of mill or industrial complex in its early history.

What Remains of Anne Forsyth’s Mill Race Inn of 1933?

With the exception of the early service additions constructed along the east side of the 1846 structure, Anne
Forsyth’s original restaurant was contained within the walls of the 1846 limestone structure.

Eighty years after Anne Forsyth’s tiny restaurant first opened, the dining room space of the original Mill Race
Inn remains intact, including the fireplace she had installed, although finishes and some walls have been
modified over time. Several windows installed in the early 1930s by August Wilson remain.

Alterations made after 1946 were largely not associated with Anne Forsyth's original eatery; those areas of the
complex were an odd arrangement of spaces and differing floor levels. Unfortunately, many of the original
limestone walls were painted after Anne Forsyth was no longer involved in the day-to-day operations of the
Mill Race Inn. Subsequent owners continued to modify and alter the original Mill Race Inn with the addition
of later dining rooms.

However, the boundaries of Anne Forsyth’s 1933 restaurant are clearly identifiable as the perimeter of the
1846 structure; the 1933 Mill Race Inn restaurant is clearly evident within the abandoned complex.

What Architectural Integrity Remains?

As an early vernacular structure, constructed of indigenous materials and adapted for many uses over time,
the building retains a sufficient amount of integrity to be identifiable as the early blacksmith shop building.
Although the John Rystrom Carriage & Wagon Shop was, likely, the second most significant business at the site
and C. E. Mann'’s Cooperage was the third significant business to occupy the site, little of the architecture
constructed for either of those ventures remains today.

However, the diminutive building survives as one of the few examples of pre-1850 commercial or industrial
buildings in Geneva and is among the oldest of its kind in the entire Fox Valley. The building stands, in 2018, as
an example of a utilitarian building that—for more than 170 years—has been adapted and re-purposed,
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continuously, to accommodate growth and redevelopment of the east bank of the Fox River at Geneva.

A thorough investigation of the architecture of the remaining 1846 structure, as modified by Anne Forsyth in
1933, could better quantify the extent of original, extant materials from the two most significant periods of the
structure’s history that have survived: the 1846 manufactory and Anne Forsyth’s 1933 Mill Race Inn.

Does the Building Satisfy Any Criteria for Listing in the National Register of Mistoric Places or as a Local
Landmark?

The National Register of Historic Places has established criteria that evaluates properties based on the quality
of significance in American history, architecture, archeology, engineering, and culture present in districts, sites,
buildings, structures, and objects that possess integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association and

(a) that are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad
patterns of our history; or

(c) that embody distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or that
represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic values, or that represent a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components may lack individuai distinction; or

(d) that have yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history.

Admittedly, vernacular, utilitarian buildings are often challenging structures to nominate for landmark
recognition. However, the Alexander Brothers’ 1846 blacksmith shop building may qualify for National Register
listing under Criterion A because the building is one of the few remaining Geneva buildings that is closely
associated with the initial settlement of the pioneer community. Furthermore, it may be argued that the
structure qualifies under Criterion C as an example of an early manufactory building associated with the early
industrial development along the Fox River at Geneva. Few examples of these very early (pre-Civil War)
industrial buildings remain throughout the Kane County section of the Fox River Valley. A survey of the Fox River
valley communities may verify that the building at Geneva is the sole surviving (or one of a dozen or less), pre-
Civil War industrial building still at its original location (Aurora’s Bennett Mill was dis-assembled and
reconstructed at another site around 2013). Additionally, the building has associations with several other
industrial users that were important in the development of Geneva through the nineteenth century: the
Rystrom Wagon Shop and the C. E. Mann Cooperage, primarily, but—to a lesser degree—even the Carlson
Laundry.

Important to any case that would lead to landmark status for the Mill Race Inn site would be the appropriate
identification of a Period of Significance for the remaining structure. Based upon this preliminary investigation,
an appropriate Period of Significance may be 1846-1945 (the date the building was first constructed thru the
final year Anne Forsyth operated the Mill Race Inn, individually. Without further investigation, it is difficult to
suggest that later (post 1946) sections of the Mill Race Inn complex meet the National Register criteria or merit
consideration for landmark status due to continued modifications of spaces in recent times.

In either case, the building may qualify for Investment Tax Credits and other grant funds that could assist in
the preservation of those portions of the complex determined to have historic significance. Identification of
the appropriate parts of the structure that may be preserved as well as an appropriate Period of Significance
would allow the redevelopment of large portions of the abandoned Mill Race Inn complex and site.

Following a similar evaluation (although the evaluation is not as restrictive at the local level), the City of
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The Downtown / Station Area Master Plan (2012) identifies several implementation Goals and Objectives that
may be applicable to redevelopment of the former Mill Race Inn site including (pages 68-71):

Goal 1: Preserve Downtown’s Authentic Character While Accommodating New Infill Development

Objective 1: Encourage preservation and adaptive re-use of historic and architecturally significant
buildings

Objective 2: Ensure that new infill buildings respect the existing historic context and character of
downtown.

Objective 4: Establish programs that provide financial support to property owners and business
owners for building improvements and rehabilitation projects.

Goal 2: Strengthen Downtown’s Role as the Central Business District (CBD)

Objective 3: Initiate programs to encourage the improvement and rehabilitation of older commercial
buildings and spaces that are already, or are becoming, functionally obsolete.

Examples of Historic Buildings Integrated into Contemporary Adaptive Use Spaces.

The Geneva community has a long history of embracing its historic places and utilizing its history to promote
economic development and creative, continued adaptive use of its iconic buildings. Examples of adaptive use—
whether local or elsewhere—provide an immediate sense of timelessness and connection to a local community
which supports the goals of the City of Geneva’s planning and economic development efforts. ‘

The Geneva business and development community has re-purposed numerous remnant historic structures and
entire buildings into vibrant, commercial assets for the community. In fact, iconic Third Street is rooted in a
very early example of adaptive use that integrated a former, historic residence within a much larger retail
complex: Kate Raftery’s The Little Traveler (established in 1924 with significant enlargement in 1946). A few,
more recent, local examples include Dodson Place, The Herrington inn, and Geneva Bank & Trust.

Beyond the Geneva streetscape, numerous examples of small historic structures have been integrated into
larger, contemporary complexes that serve as highly-successful restaurants, inns, pubs, spas and other
commercial and hospitality-related uses across the United States.
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